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A female executioner is born.

PH: So, Rachel, what led you to pursue such an unusual career? The first ever hangwoman.

R: It all began one day when I received a call from an estranged friend, Sue, with whom I had lost contact for several years. I was glad to hear from her and suggested we meet at Dirty Harry’s bar and catch up. When I saw her, I noticed that she seemed troubled. I asked,” Is everything all right, Sue?”  She said, “No, it isn’t, it’s that loser husband of mine again, he just lost his job at the prison.” I didn’t know Rob worked in a prison. Was he a guard?”  “No, he was the hangman.”  “ Say what? Rob was a hangman?”  She then told me he had a drinking problem and showed up for work drunk half the time. 

I asked her, “How long did this go on?”  She said about five years.  “Why did they put up with it so long?”  “Because they couldn’t get anyone else. With all the protests against capital punishment, no man would go near the job; he always bragged about having them over a barrel. After botching his last execution, they weren’t taking it anymore.” I asked, “What happened?” "He showed up drunk again, as usual, and did everything wrong; first, the drop length was way off, then he did a lousy job tying the guy’s hands. The warden, along with some representatives from the State Capital who were there to witness the execution, heard him cursing across the room when he tried to push the lever, and the trapdoor wouldn’t open. Someone had to remind him to remove the safety catch. The poor schnook didn’t drop down far enough, so his neck didn’t break. They heard him gurgling for nearly four minutes before he gave up the ghost. During this time, the man managed to free his hands and tried to pull himself up. 

That was the last straw for them. Then, when they refused to give him a letter of reference, he got so enraged that he drove his car into a tree on the way home after a pit stop at the bar. So now we have no money, no car, and he has no job."  “Wow, he really messed things up for you, didn't he?” “Yes, and not just for us, he screwed up the prison as well. They have several executions scheduled and don’t have a hangman, and from what I’ve heard, they desperately need one, but there isn’t a man who wants to take on the job.”

I jokingly said, "Maybe they should try hiring a woman." She laughed, “If they can’t get a guy to do it, good luck finding a woman. I know I sure as hell couldn’t do something like that.” We spent another hour chatting, then wished each other the best. 

The next day, while I was at lunch with my friend Donna, I told her about Sue’s visit. “You know, Donna, I’ve been thinking...why couldn’t a woman be an executioner? These days, women are doing all kinds of jobs that were once the sole domain of men.” I told her about the story I read about Lady Betty. “Come on, Rachel, that’s another one of those Loch Ness monster yarns; there’s no such thing as a female executioner or a Hangwoman.” “Donna, give me one good reason why a woman can’t be an executioner, especially one with five years of nursing experience and a 

working knowledge of human anatomy. They’re in dire need of an executioner, and I’m thinking about applying.” Donna laughed. “Rachel, I know you want a career change, but isn’t that a bit extreme? From nurse to executioner? They’ll just tell you to get lost.” “Probably, but I want to see how they respond.” “I just told you how they’ll respond.”

I disguised myself the next day when I went to the prison to apply for the job. I wore a silk headscarf, dark sunglasses, and a surgical mask. I kept thinking about Donna's comment, “They’ll just tell you to get lost.” Of course, that would be demeaning. Not only was I ready for this insult, but I also had some choice words in mind if they did tell me to get lost.

PH: Did they tell you to get lost? 

R: Not in those exact words, but yes. When I arrived at the front entrance of the prison gates, I was met with questions and more questions. Then, I was escorted to the warden’s secretary. Her office was directly in front of his office, and again, more questions. She kept asking me what my visit was about. I must have told her twenty times that I wanted to discuss it privately with Warden Sinclair. There were seven or eight people in the room, and I didn’t want them to hear what it was about, but the old battle-ax kept insisting she needed to know the reason for my visit. 

It was a hot day, and the air conditioning system was malfunctioning. Soon, after our back-and-forth confrontation, we were both so agitated that we shouted at each other. 

Suddenly, a door swung open, and I saw a little bald man wanting to know what all the shouting was about. “I’m sorry, sir; this young lady insists she wants to talk to you but won’t tell me what it’s about.” 

“Well, Miss, what is it you want?  He got agitated when I told him I wanted to discuss it privately. “Young lady, I am a very busy man, so if there’s something you want to say, please do so or leave.” Damn, he’s giving me no choice. "It’s about the job.” 

“The job, what job?” “I heard you are looking for an executioner.” Suddenly, his face lit up. “Why yes, we are. Do you know anyone?” Okay, this guy is as dumb as he looks. “Well, yes, me.” 

Then, silence, people in the room staring at each other. He got angry and yelled, “Dammit, girl, I’m in no mood for jokes today. Now get out of here and go do whatever it is you do.” He turned around and stormed back into his office. He was about to close the door when I shouted, “Well, Warden, I guess we have something in common then.” He stopped, turned, and shouted, “And what might that be?” “I’m in no mood for jokes today either!” 

He slowly walked back to me and stopped. “Just who the hell are you”? At that point, I thought, okay, this is not going anywhere, but I was enjoying the charade. Thinking I had nothing to lose, I decided to yank his chain some more and beat it. “Who I am is not important. Do you need an executioner or not?” I expected to hear him tell me to beat it, but lo and behold, he said, “Let’s talk in my office.” I thought, fine, let’s continue this charade a little longer.  His office resembled that of a corporate bigwig – tufted leather chairs, a large mahogany desk, and a bar stocked with enough liquor to host a New Year’s Eve party. His first question was, “So, what’s your name?” I didn’t want to give him my real name, but at that moment, I couldn’t come up with another. "You can call me Rachel," I cursed myself, damn, how could you not have prepared yourself for something so obvious? “Call you Rachel? So, you don’t want to tell me your real name? Not important.  But I want to know why you think you can be a hangman?” “Oh, warden, I could never be a hangman; anyone can see that.”

He looked lost. “Well, what then?”  “A Hangwoman.”

PH: That was quite a turnaround. You must have made an impression on him.

R: Yes, but I soon found out that when it came to this character, there was always an angle, and that angle was money. 

We were sitting across from each other, and he was making me uncomfortable with the way he was undressing me with his eyes. Suddenly, he seemed to like the idea of a female executioner and asked me if I’d like a drink. “A drink? It’s 10:30 in the morning. That’s too early for me, warden”.  “Of course, you don’t mind if I ....?”  “Not at all. “

He poured himself a shot and sat down on his big executive swivel chair with a devious look,

rotating back and forth like a CEO.

“I’m glad you came to see me, Rachel; you’ve just given me a great idea. I can’t believe I never thought of it before, a female hangman, I mean, hangwoman.”

I thought it was unfortunate that Donna wasn’t hearing this. Little did I know, the idea I had given him was all about money. 

“You know, Rachel, some guys come apart before an execution. They sob and whine while some have to be dragged to the gallows, it’s very unpleasant, but with a female executioner, especially one with your looks, a lot of that unpleasantness could be avoided.” “I’m not sure I get your drift, Warden.” “I mean, breaking down in front of an attractive woman would make them appear weak and small. So, let’s get down to business.” 

I thought that was one hell of a U-turn. He’s not even asking me about my qualifications or anything else.  Nah, Donna’s right; this is a bad idea; time to end this charade.  

When I stood up and told him I’d have to think about it, he got up as fast as I did. “Well, Rachel, you want the job, don’t you? Wait, we haven’t talked about money; please, sit down.”

Although I wanted to leave, I was also curious about the money part, so I said, "Okay, let’s hear it."

“As I’m sure you know, we don’t have an execution every day, so it’s not a full-time job. Our arrangement with the previous individual was $40,000.00 per year, plus an additional $2,000.00 for each execution performed.” 

That sounded good, but I still felt it wasn’t for me. “Sounds good, Warden; I’ll get back to you.” He must have sensed that I’d changed my mind. “But that’s for a hangman. For a female executioner, that'd be $60,000.00 plus.” “Warden, you got a deal.” 

I wasn’t about to say no to sixty-plus big ones. He was elated and put his arms around me. He gave me a hug that lasted a little too long to my liking, and his “Oh, this feels so good” comment put me off. I thought, okay, fella, that’s enough; let go before I do something we’ll both regret. Fortunately, he let go in time. I told him it was nice meeting him and that I would be in touch. 

I knew Donna was anxiously waiting to hear how it went, so I called her and suggested we meet for lunch at Harry’s. After hearing me out, she goes, “WHOA, you’re not seriously thinking about doing this, are you?” “Donna, it’s too much money to turn down.” “Rachel, you don’t know squat about hanging someone, and by the way, when is this supposed to happen?”  “The execution is scheduled for the 23rd.”   

“That’s ten days from now. You’re not thinking, girl; how can you prepare for something like that in ten days with zero experience and no one to teach you the ropes?”, figure of speech” “The internet!” “Say what?” “The internet is a great tool. You can learn just about anything on the internet.” “We’re nurses, Rachel, we save lives, not take them. Do you honestly think you could do something like that? “Yes, Donna, I do, and I think I will be good at it. Anyway, I’ve already accepted, so no turning back now.”

“Okay, Rach, as long as you’re sure. If there’s anything I can do to help, just ask”. “Thanks, Donna, I appreciate it. 

PH: Wow, ten days with no one to show you the ropes. What happened then?

R: The first thing we did was set out a strategy. Donna and I were both on holiday, which was fortunate because it allowed us to practice for long hours daily. After one week, I started getting apprehensive. The big day was approaching fast, and I hoped and prayed that I would be ready. We had a list of things I needed to learn, and the only source from which to get it was the internet. Donna laughed and said, “This is hilarious, from a nurse to an executioner via the internet”. One of the things we learned was that the guy’s weight determines the proper length for the drop. The rope must be boiled for at least two hours to eliminate slack. The noose must be tightened between the second and third vertebrae to ensure a quick neck break. After five years of nursing experience, that would be no problem. Make sure his hands are properly tied. Don’t let yourself become emotionally involved; your job is to carry out the sentence: no more, no less. 

After the drop, let the body hang for at least twenty minutes. On the gallows, the executioner is like the captain of a ship; what the captain says, goes. Finally, what to wear? Donna came up with an idea: "Sinclair said guys don't want to appear weak in front of a woman, so dress sexy." I decided on an off-white satin blouse, a tight-fitting, above-the-knee black leather skirt,

hosiery, high-heeled shoes, and a black latex hood that I picked up in a novelty store. When I put it together, I asked her, “So, do I look like an executrix?” “You look more like a dominatrix.” 

That became my outfit for the years I spent on the gallows. The next day, I called Sinclair from a pay phone and told him I needed to confirm the prisoner’s weight and have someone help me with the sandbags. “No problem, Rachel, it will be done.”

I told him to inform prison employees that I didn’t want anyone getting physically close to me. I was always cautious with my disguise and didn’t want to risk one of them getting close enough to pull off my mask. I come from a large, extended family. Every one of them is an outspoken critic of capital punishment. My dad sits on the City Council. I could only imagine what it would do to him if it ever came out that his daughter was an executioner, not to mention the rest of my family. Just for the record, I’m opposed to the death penalty as well and would like to see it abolished.

PH: If you are against the death penalty, why did you become an executioner?

R: Because I believed I would be good at it, and I was good.

I performed one hundred and thirty-six executions without a single mishap. Anyone who is condemned to death deserves to have it done as quickly and humanely as possible. I had become so efficient at my job that I sometimes saw it as my duty. 

Following the preliminaries with the sandbags, I went shopping for my executrix outfit. On the way home, I stopped by the hardware store and picked up six feet of rope. When I got home, I cut off two feet and called Donna. I told her to pick up a pizza, come over, and not forget to bring a bottle of red wine.

About an hour later, she arrived with the pizza and wine. After dinner, we went over the “to-do list” again and again. 

It seemed like there was always something that needed to be added. “Okay, Rachel, what’s next?” I showed her the two-foot-long rope. “What’s that for?”

“Stand up and turn around.” “Oh, right.” 

I tied her hands and told her to try to get loose. She wiggled back and forth, saying, “It’s hard.”  “Good, scratch that one off the list.” 

No sooner did I say it, and presto, she was free. “Looks like you’re going to need more practice, Rach.” When she got untangled, I realized what I did wrong. “Okay, let’s try this again.” After about half a minute, she gave up. “No way, you got it right this time, Rach.” We practiced a few more times, and she couldn’t free herself each time. “Okay, now scratch it off the list.” After an hour or so, we decided to call it quits for the day and turned on the TV. 

The breaking news featured the prison, my new workplace. They were showing a van entering the compound with a man emerging, all shackled up. I don’t remember his name, but the newscaster said he was to be executed in four weeks. This particular prison was known for its efficient and effective set-up for executions. Other prisons routinely sent death row inmates to be executed at Millbrook rather than handling it themselves. Naturally, there was a fee, which soon increased when word got out about an attractive female executioner. I didn’t know it at the time, but that was one of the reasons Sinclair was so eager to hire me. On average, there had been six to eight executions a year. It wasn’t long before the number rose to twenty. Donna was right when she said she smelled a rat. After I was done with the first guy, this other one would be my second. As he exited the van, Donna turned to me and said, “There’s another two thousand bucks for you.” “Yeah, but let’s not think about him until we get the first one behind us.” 

“Interesting how you keep saying we, Rachel; somehow, I feel I’m getting pulled deeper into this."

Little did she know she was right! The day before the execution, I was frightened and jittery, not to mention nervous. In less than twenty-four hours, I would be taking someone’s life, a man I didn’t even know. Donna couldn’t help noticing my apprehension. “ It’s not too late, Rach, you don’t have to go through with it if you don’t want to.”  “I know Donna, but how would that make me look?”  “Who cares? They don’t know who you are.”  She was right, but I felt I had gone too far to back out. 

The night before the execution was the worst, tossing and turning nonstop all night with all sorts of what-ifs racing through my mind. 

What if this guy comes apart and breaks down on me? What if he gets his hands free? What if Donna only pretended she couldn’t free herself to make me feel good? What if someone tampered with the rope? Damn, I should have told the warden to lock the door to the execution room. I probably got no more than three hours of sleep that night. 

The execution was scheduled for 10 a.m. I was out of bed and showered by six. Okay, pack your bag with your outfit and make sure you have everything. Later, I would come to regret not packing a towel. Donna stayed over that night.  By 7 am, I was ready to leave the house, but I took the time to check my bag carefully to make sure I hadn’t forgotten anything. When we arrived at the pay phone, I called Sinclair and gave him an address so the driver could pick me up at 8:30. The driver was right on time, and the van pulled into the backyard of the prison at 9 am. I immediately went to a storage room behind the execution hall. That storage room, the size of a one-car garage, also served as my dressing room during my years at Millbrook. The room led to a corridor behind the death row cells and again around the front. It also led to a lane behind the prison from where I would make my escape after everything was done.

I took my time changing clothes as there was no hurry. The clock on the wall showed 9:15. At 9:45, I would be on my way to cell number 308, where 39-year-old Gary Mitchell was waiting for me to take him to the gallows and hang him. Mitchell had a bad temper, which got the better of him one day when he killed a guy in a bar fight over a game of pool. I sat quietly on a small folding chair, staring anxiously at the clock on the wall. Although I couldn’t hear the clock ticking, I imagined its sound. It reminded me of an old western movie I saw on TV a couple of weeks before called High Noon, where the Marshal of a small town is staring at the clock, waiting for the train bringing a killer who swore vengeance against him. 

When the clock showed 9:42, I stood up, donned my black hood, and looked in the mirror. “She’s right; I do look like a dominatrix.” To some, the outfit no doubt would have looked erotic. I left the room and began walking along the stretch behind the cells to where the corridor rounded and took me around the front. By now, everyone was aware that the new executioner was a woman. Walking past the cells on death row was like running a gauntlet. They were all standing with their faces between the bars and their tongues hanging out, spewing remarks so vulgar and disgusting I would not repeat even to myself. By the time I got to cell number 308, the word blowjob was ringing in my ears. I saw the warden and two big, tough-looking guards outside Mitchell’s cell waiting for me. The warden told one of the guards to open the door, and I went inside. There, I saw a frightened guy and a priest staring at me with their mouths wide open. I turned to the priest and asked, “Is he ready?” The priest stood up and told Mitchell, “It’s time, my son.” Mitchell didn’t move, so I told him to stand up. On rubbery legs, he just kept staring at me without saying a word. I wondered if it was fear or how I looked; most likely, it was a combination of both. I took out the two-foot-long rope that was tucked under my waistband and told him to turn around and put his hands behind his back. It was apparent that the execution would not be at the 10 a.m. mark since Mitchell was moving at a snail’s pace. When he finally made the turn, he stood motionless with his arms by his sides, staring at the cold gray ceiling. I took his wrists, pulled his arms back, and tied his hands. I then took two steps back and told him to face me. Mitchell was shaking so hard, a puff of wind could have knocked him over. I thought the guards would be lifting him off the floor at any moment. I put my hand on his shoulder and asked him if he was okay. When he nodded, I said, “All right, Gary, now just follow me.”

PH: Were you anticipating any problems with Mitchell when you went to collect him? I suspect most of the other executions you performed did not go all that smoothly. Your first being so easy was a stroke of good fortune.

R: Yes, I was lucky it went the way it did, and I would add, so was Mitchell!

The only problems with my first were the anxiety I had on the days leading up to the execution and, of course, the perspiration under that tight-fitting latex hood. 

After the first one, it got easier mentally. Although there were times when I was bothered by perspiration, it never reached the same extent as the first time. 

PH: So, you never had any problems with Mitchell until the end?”

R: No, none whatsoever! He was scared, but probably no more than I was.”

The walk from his cell to the gallows was a short one. Between Mitchell’s cell and the door leading to the execution room were four other cells with prisoners waiting for what became their date with me. As we headed towards the gallows, Mitchell suddenly stopped and asked Sinclair if he could have a few moments to say goodbye to his friend in the adjoining cell. 

Sinclair responded, “Ask her.” I wondered, why ask me? After the execution, I asked Sinclair, “Why did he have to ask me?” He said, “On death row, the executioner is like the captain of a ship; what the captain says goes.” 

I gave Mitchell a minute to say goodbye to his friend. From the look on Sinclair’s face, that was time enough. “Ok, Gary, let’s go.” As we arrived at the execution room, which was the size of a small warehouse, the guard opened the door, and we all entered without hesitation. I was worried Mitchell would become unglued at the sight of the noose I would soon put around his neck; fortunately, that didn’t happen. 

The perspiration was agitating, so I hurried to the scaffold, turned around, and waited for the prisoner. There was a small table with a black hood and two leather straps. As Mitchell stepped onto the platform, I took him by the arm and positioned him onto the two black-painted footmarks on the trapdoor.  I was shaking mildly as I took the first strap and fastened it around his legs above his ankles; the second strap was fastened above his knees. After I picked up the hood, I asked him if he had any last words. Mitchell didn’t respond and continued to stare at my blouse, which was soaked with perspiration. “Gary, stop looking at my boobs. Is there anything you'd like to say?” “I didn’t mean it, I screwed up.” 

On that note, I applied the hood and dropped the noose over his head. After fiddling with the coil for a few seconds, I tightened the noose around his neck below his left ear and prayed that death would be instantaneous when he dropped down the chute. By then, the perspiration had become unbearable. As I reached for the lever, I looked at the prisoner trembling like a leaf in the wind on the trapdoor. I grabbed the lever with my right hand about a foot from the top and then with my left hand above. Holding the lever firmly with both hands, I pulled it toward me. The trapdoor swung open, slamming against the structure beneath, and Gary Mitchell fell into eternity. The unmistakable sound of a broken neck was testament that death was instantaneous.

For a few moments, no one in the room said a word. They all stood around, staring at me and then at each other. When I looked down the chute, I saw Mitchell’s body gently rotating with his head resting on his right shoulder—a clear indication of a broken neck. Suddenly, everyone started applauding, but I was in no mood for congratulations. I wanted to get out of there fast, as I badly needed a shower and a change of clothes.

PH: Rachel, I'm impressed; it's remarkable that a young woman with no previous experience could pull off something like that. 

R: Yes, well, I admit I had some doubts. Anyway, as soon as I got to the storage room, still shaking, I locked the door and pulled that damn hood off. By then, I was completely soaked. A small portion of my blouse was still dry, and I used it to wipe off some of the perspiration. Next, I removed my shoes and the leather skirt, which also bothered me. The tight leather skirt and high-heeled shoes gave me an exotic look, but were hardly comfortable. Getting back into my street clothes took some doing. With all that perspiration, slipping on my T-shirt was a chore.

After I got into my jeans, there was a knock on the door. “Rachel, it’s Warden Sinclair. Can I come in?” “One minute, please, Warden.” Before opening the door, I quickly put on my surgical mask and dark glasses. The first words out of his mouth were, “Rachel, that was unbelievable; you’re a pro. Here, this is yours.” He handed me an envelope containing $2,000. I couldn't believe I had forgotten about that. “Thanks Warden. I’m sorry, but I need to go home now.” “Rachel, one minute, please. We need to talk. I have an idea about a female assistant for you to work with”. “I’m sorry, Warden; we’ll discuss it next time. I must go now.”

“Can’t you stay a while? There’s so much we need to discuss.” “Sorry, Warden. It'll have to wait. I’ll mention your idea to my friend. What about the van?” 

PH: The van?

R: We had agreed that a van would pick me up and take me to my destination. It was parked in the lane behind the building.

PH: That was like a getaway car then.

R: Yes. As soon as I stepped outside, the cool air against my skin almost made me pass out. After an hour of perspiring, I should have expected it. When I entered the van, the driver asked, "Where are we going? I handed him a note with the destination and told him not to say it out loud.

PH: The reason being?

R: In case they had put a bug in the van, just one more precaution. The destination on the note was the mall, specifically the front entrance. After he dropped me off, I told him, “Go.” I entered the mall, took the escalator down, and exited through the back, where Donna was waiting for me. When I got into the car, she asked, “How did it go, and why are you all wet?” I told her to drive as I desperately needed a shower. She looked at me out of the corner of her eye as she put the car in gear and slowly drove off. “So, tell me, how did it go, and again, why are you all wet?" I told her it went better than expected, except for the perspiration. “Next time, take a towel.” “Thanks, I’ll try to remember.”

As soon as I got inside, I rushed to the bathroom and turned on the shower. Never before had a shower felt so good. I hadn’t realized how long I had been in there until Donna knocked on the door and said, “Hey, how much longer?” I yelled, “I’ll be out in a minute.” When I emerged from that wonderful shower, it felt like the world had been lifted off my shoulders. I slipped into my robe and went into my cozy little den, where I saw Donna standing beside the fireplace, holding two glasses of wine. “Shall we celebrate?”  “Let’s!”

While I was in the shower, she also put out a tray with cheese and crackers. She knows me so well; cheese and crackers is my favorite snack. Donna felt a little chilly, so I got a couple of blankets, and we made ourselves comfortable in the two reclining chairs next to the fireplace.

“Okay, Rachel, don’t keep me in suspense, tell me what happened, how did it go?” I told her again that it went better than I expected. “What about the guy?” “What about him?” “Did he give you any trouble?” “No, he was quite cooperative; maybe Sinclair was right.” “Right about what?” “He said some guys would probably not want to show fear in front of a woman.” “Are you saying this guy wasn’t afraid?” “If he was, he did his best not to show it.” 

PH:   What was the next one like? Easier or more of the same?

R: The next one was definitely easier. First, I was more confident, and there wasn’t any overbearing perspiration that time, but he was more difficult. With him, I needed the help of the guards.

PH: Was he the guy you saw coming out of the van?

R: Yes. This guy was anything but cooperative. When he was led into the execution room and saw the noose, he freaked out and had to be dragged to the gallows, while calling me every name in the book right up to the moment I pulled the lever.

PH: What were the following days like? You had just taken someone’s life. Was it business as usual, or were you affected by what had happened? 

R: Not really. Donna stayed over again, as we'd planned to go shopping the next day. I wanted to spend some of the $2,000 I just made. After breakfast, I took my car to a nearby garage for an oil change. My dad was adamant that I change the oil in my car every four months. It’d been over six months, so I had to get that out of the way first. We arrived at the mall around two o’clock and saw a crowd outside an appliance store. Inside the store, people were standing shoulder to shoulder. Every TV in the store was showing the same program.

I turned to Donna. "Something must have happened. Let’s take a look." “Oh my God!” A prison employee had set up video recorders of the execution,  the whole thing was now on social media, and going viral.
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Chapter 2
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The Media Frenzy

We couldn’t believe our eyes and ears! The comments from some of the people in the crowd were unreal. “She’s a dom," "That’s a man-hating radical feminist if I ever saw one," “If she were hanging me, they’d need a wider trapdoor." The comments from some of the women were also priceless. “They’re fake.” “She was probably a nice girl at one time; some loser must have pissed her off." “Did you see the way she bent over when she strapped his legs?” “Oh yeah, she knew exactly where the camera was set up.” 

Suddenly, the place erupted in laughter when they saw the warden talking to reporters. “I don’t know, I tell you; I have no idea who she is. All I know is the alias she gave me, Rachel.” The governor freaked when he saw the warden on TV telling the whole world he had no idea who she was. We laughed so hard that people looked at us as if we were strange. That same morning, the phones at Millbrook Penitentiary were ringing off the hook. After his blooper interview with reporters, Sinclair felt like crawling under a rock. He told his battle-ax secretary he wasn’t taking any calls until she mentioned that the governor was on the line. “Good morning, governor; how are you today?” 

“SINCLAIR, YOU IDIOT, who is this dominatrix?” “You mean Rachel, sir?” “No, I mean Santa Claus, of course I mean Rachel.... or whatever her name is. And what’s the meaning of letting anyone who walks in off the street perform an execution? Especially a young woman with no experience. And then telling those reporters, not only don’t you know who she is, YOU DON’T EVEN KNOW HER NAME. Do you have any idea how that makes us look?” “I’m sorry, governor; I know it was a mistake; the phones have been ringing all morning; I don’t even want to talk to anyone right now. I’m sure you must be getting a lot of calls as well.” 

“Getting calls, Sinclair? Let me tell you about a call from Governor Brooks of Ohio this morning. He didn't say a word when I picked up the phone.” “I don’t understand. Why would he call and not say anything?” “Because he couldn’t stop laughing. And now my secretary tells me that Vincent Randall has already called three times today." “I’m sorry, governor, who is Vincent Randall?” “Oh, no one important, he’s just the director of the Department of Correctional Services in Washington, DC. “Oh, that Vincent Randall.” “Dammit, Sinclair, you have got to do some damage control. Make a statement that you were joking about not knowing who this Rachel is, and make it believable.” “Yes, governor, right away, sir, and governor, don’t worry about Rachel; next time I hear from her, I’ll tell her to stay away and never return.” “Sinclair, you idiot, you’ll do no such thing.” “I don’t understand.” “Are you blind as well as dumb? Didn’t you see that video? Didn’t you see how she performed that execution? She’s a pro; you need her! Pay her whatever you have to. Now go do damage control.” “Thank you, governor, have a nice day!”

PH: A strange turn of events, to say the least. What did you think when you found out what transpired with Sinclair and the governor?

R: To be honest, the first thing that came to mind was, 'This is getting weird.'

Within twenty-four hours, the video was broadcast worldwide. The next day, I was on the front page of every major newspaper in the country. Some of the headlines read, “Who is the mysterious executrix? The first-ever Hangwoman—who is she?” I thought it was hilarious until something occurred to me. I turned to Donna with a blank look. “Donna, my family!”

With another execution scheduled, I knew the prison grounds would be swarming with reporters looking for me - The Mysterious Hangwoman. I was concerned someone would get close and pull my hood off. This made me think of a movie I had seen where a zealous reporter revealed a woman’s secret identity, and how horrific her life had suddenly become. Damn, I need to think. Suddenly, I got a text from my father that gave me chills: “Call me.” I turned to Donna. “He knows, but how?” Donna told me to stop biting my nails and call him back. As I dialed the number, I prepared myself for the possibility of being disowned by my family. “Hi Dad, what’s up?” “Just calling you to remind you about tonight.” “Tonight?” “Don’t tell me you forgot. The whole family is getting together for dinner.” “Oh right, no, Dad, I didn’t forget; I’ll be there.” “Good. By the way, Mom wants you to invite Donna.” “Ok, I will.”

I knew why my mother wanted me to invite Donna. My brother Adam had the hots for her, and my mom wanted nothing more than to see them get together someday. 

When we arrived at the house, about fifteen people stood around talking loudly and raising glasses, saying,” Cheers!” My Dad also invited my two uncles, aunts, and their two twenty-three-year-old and twenty-six-year-old sons. The house is a large Antebellum-type mansion with a nearly 30-foot-long dining room and a table that seats twenty. At the end of the main table is a smaller round table where my nephews and nieces sit. Donna turned to me, “Your dad, your uncles, and five young guys, I can already guess what the topic of the evening will be.” 

Adam was already making a move on Donna, no more than five minutes after our arrival. I was a little worried about my other brother, Mathew. He sits on the board of my dad’s company; he’s suspicious of everyone and very observant. I avoided him as much as possible throughout the evening. After we all sat at the table, my younger brother Peter, who sat across from me about six seats down, said, “Hey, Rachel, I saw you on TV today.” Of course, everyone heard it. My Mom asked, “What? You saw your sister on TV?” “Yeah, the whole world saw her.” He was joking as always, but it made me lose my appetite.

PH: You say he’s always joking, but why did he joke? Oh, right, the name.

R: It didn’t hit me immediately, but yes, the name. 

When Mom asked Peter what he was talking about, he told her about the video. Again, she asked him what he was talking about. Dad told him to stop. “Just because that bitch has the same name as...” but before he finished speaking, Adam interrupted. “It’s not her real name, Dad; it’s an alias. I saw the warden talking to reporters; he told them she didn’t want to give her real name. That’s all he knows about her.” Donna was right. The mysterious executrix became the topic of the discussion.

Sitting two seats away, my cousin Randy asked, “What did you think of it, Rachel?” “I didn’t see it, Randy”. “You can probably see it later this evening, it’s been showing all day.”  “I don’t think I want to see something like that Randy” My aunt interrupted, “Ok, boys, stop it, let’s not have any more discussion about that evil woman.” I wasn’t particularly overjoyed about the evil comment. Still, I was glad she had shut down the conversation. Nothing more was said during dinner, but it was a different story after everyone left the table. 

There was a large TV in the family room, and sure enough, there was that video again. Picture five young guys in a room drinking beer and watching something like that on TV. Jim brought up her body. “Man, did you guys see the knockers on that bitch?” “Peter apologized to me for his earlier comment, saying, “Sorry, Sis, I was just kidding, but hey, I bet you wouldn’t mind having a body like hers, right?” Matthew jumped in, saying, “Pete, every woman would like a body like that.” Earlier, when Dad reminded me about the get-together, I made sure the first thing I did was put on the loosest-fitting, if not the baggiest, clothes in my closet. I wanted to look nothing like the image shown on TV. Adam asked Donna why she was so quiet. “You haven’t said a word, babe. So what do you think about her?” Donna responded, “She was probably a nice girl at one time; some loser must have pissed her off.” That got a round of applause.

The party broke up around ten, and Donna and I left shortly after. From there, I drove her back to her townhouse. She had stayed at my place the past two nights, and since it was late, she suggested I crash at her place. “Sounds good! Got any sherry?” “I do.” 

We showered, got into our robes, and chatted for a while. I told her there was something I meant to bring up with her before, but with the party and all, I forgot about it. “What?” “The other day, when I was at the jail, Sinclair mentioned an assistant for me.” “What kind of an assistant?” “A female assistant! After the execution, he brought it up again, but I was in too much of a hurry to get out of there. Anyway, I told him I’d mention it to you”. “Me? I think you’ve had too much of that sherry,” I told her. All she had to do was strap his legs, pull the hood over his head, and step back. As my assistant, she'd get forty thousand dollars a year, plus another thousand every time some lowlife went up the rope.

PH: But Donna eventually came on board, didn't she?

R: Yes. She just needed a little more persuasion. That came in the form of a pink slip. When we arrived for work at the hospital the following day, we were given envelopes containing pink slips and informed that some workers were being laid off due to budget cuts. I didn’t care, as I intended to submit my resignation anyway. 

After getting the boot, Donna turned to me, “Okay, Rach, run that by me again; what does an assistant to an executioner do?” I told her Sinclair wanted to dress up the act. Can you believe that? He called it an act. I told her, “My job is taking the prisoner to the gallows. He is followed by two guards, the warden, and a priest. You are to wait on the scaffold until I arrive with the prisoner. Once he is on the scaffold, you take his arm and position him on the two black footmarks on the trapdoor. There will be a small table with two leather straps and a black hood. You take one of the straps and secure his legs above his ankles, and the other above his knees. You wait until I signal and pull the hood over his head. Then you step back and off the trap, and I do the rest – Expect to do that twice a month and get paid forty thousand bucks a year, plus another thousand for every execution you assist me with.”

She said it sounded easy enough, although she couldn’t understand why they would be willing to pay someone so much to do such a nothing job. But she wasn’t about to argue either. 

“Okay, Donna, we've got some shopping to do.” “What are we going shopping for?”

“Your outfit.” “Oh god, don’t tell me you want me to dress the same as you.”

“No, silly, I don’t think we should dress exactly alike.”  “Oh, good, how then?”

“Your skirt and hood should be a different color; the rest will be the same.” 

“Oh, that makes a big difference, Rach; what about the guards?”

“They already have their uniforms.” “I know, I meant, they will be around if we need them, right?” “Of course!” “So, when are we doing this?” 

“The next execution is in two weeks. I’ll call Sinclair in the morning and tell him you’re on board.”

She then asked, “How do we get paid?” I told her it was all in cash. Giving us cheques would leave a paper trail, so that idea was out. She would receive an envelope with $8,000 in cash five times a year, and the extra thousand would be given to her in cash after every execution. “Sounds good, Rachel, but I don’t want anyone knowing about it. If my family finds out that I’m doing this, my life will be turned upside down.”  “Yes, Donna, I know.”

PH: I take it concealing your identities kept you pretty much on your toes. 

R: That’s putting it mildly; maintaining secrecy was always our priority. The execution video made it much more difficult, but it was a blessing in disguise for Sinclair.

PH: How so? 

R:  Almost immediately after it went viral, he got a call from one of the major networks. The video was shown repeatedly. Every time it aired, more and more viewers tuned in to watch it. By the fifth time, more than sixty million viewers had seen it. The idea of a young woman in high heels being an executioner was something the media couldn’t stop talking about. The network offered Sinclair a million dollars for the exclusive filming rights to every execution I performed. Sinclair jumped on it faster than a cat on a mouse. 

PH: A million dollars for every execution? That’s wild!

R: I thought so, too, but the second one got over eighty million viewers. Initially, not every execution could be shown. Financial concessions were offered to the families of the condemned, and although some were quite substantial, not everyone agreed to them. Sometimes, the prisoners objected to the viewings and requested that their lawyers intervene on their behalf.

Initially, one in five executions made it to the airwaves. As time passed, it became four, sometimes even three. It was agreed that they would always be shown after midnight on what was known as:  The Midnight Channel:

PH: How did that go over with the Governor?

R: Very well. Sinclair always wanted money for repairs, etc., but was told there were budget cutbacks. However, the million dollars he was getting from the network solved his problem. What he didn’t expect was the State wanting a piece of the action. 

PH: What about you and Donna? Did you get a piece of the action?

R: No, we didn’t, nor did we want it. To us, it seemed vulgar; they were like hyenas preying on other people’s misery

PH: So, Sinclair was somewhat of an entrepreneur.

R: More like a hustler. The jail where we worked had a state-of-the-art execution facility. It was the only one in the country with gallows set up for double hangings with two trapdoors, which is why other penitentiaries occasionally sent prisoners to be executed at Millbrook rather than doing it themselves for various reasons.  Up to then, the going price had been $ 60.000, but that soon changed.

When word got out that Millbrook had not one but two attractive female executioners, a series of events began to unfold.

PH: What happened? 

R: Sinclair got a call one day from a prison on the West Coast. They were planning to execute a prisoner who killed a guard during a bank robbery. The guy escaped with more than three million dollars, which he had hidden before he was apprehended. He offered to tell the D.A. where the money was hidden if he was given a prison sentence instead of the death penalty, but they refused. Since execution was inevitable, he offered them a new deal. He would tell them where the money was buried if they agreed to have me perform his execution. He put it bluntly, “Either she hangs me, or you can kiss the three million Goodbye.”

PH: You mean you and Donna? But he was on the West Coast.

R: Naturally, they agreed. When they contacted Sinclair, he heard the cash register ringing again. 

Sinclair was charging $100,000 for every prisoner sent to Millbrook to be executed by us. When he learned the details about the three million, the $100.000 fee jumped to $500,000. He had an ear-to-ear grin when he told us to pack our bags. We both looked at him and told him to forget it.  Maintaining secrecy was already hard enough without traveling all over the country.  I told him, “It’s not have  rope, will travel, Gord.”

PH: I’m sure that didn’t go over well with him.

R: No, it didn’t, but for us, it was simply too risky, so   I suggested he tell them to send the prisoner to Millbrook, and I would execute him there. “They won’t agree to half a million in that case, Rachel.”  “Sure, they will; they’ll still be two and a half million ahead, and by the way, throwing 10% of that $500,000 our way would be a nice gesture on your part.”

He then emailed them and told them of his decision. Their answer came almost immediately: “The deal for the five hundred thousand was for them to come here, not for us to send him there.” 

PH: So, they didn’t go for it? That must have been upsetting for him.

R: Not quite. I told him to sit tight and wait.

When I called him later that day, he told me there was no deal. “I knew they wouldn’t go for it. They insisted that the $500,000 was for the two of you to go out there.” I said, “Gord, here’s what you do: tell them you were talking to me, and I told you to shove it. Then say, “Sorry, I tried,” and tell them to have a nice day.” “And then what?” “Wait until they call back and tell you it’s a deal.” 

PH: What happened after that? 

R: About half an hour later, he got what he wanted. Of course, they took the deal; why wouldn’t they? they were still two and a half million ahead.”

Two days later, when the prisoner and two guards arrived at the airport, Sinclair sent a van to pick them up and graciously didn’t charge for the ride. From there, the prisoner was transported to cell number 319 on death row. Room and board for the prisoner was $100 a day while he waited for his date with me. The next day, I weighed him and made the necessary adjustments for the drop. His name was Jerry Maynard; he was 39 years old, 5’10” tall, and weighed 185 pounds. He was a good-looking guy, jovial and always smiling. Jerry had been in trouble with the law since he was seventeen, but mostly petty stuff, so he was never classified as a big-time offender. It was only after he broke into a drug store one night and stole $2000.00 worth of Viagra pills that he was then classified as a hardened criminal. 

When I introduced myself, he remarked that I looked different. I asked him what he meant by different. He was referring to how I was dressed when he saw me performing on the midnight channel. “Jerry, those are my work clothes; you’ll see me in them when I return day after tomorrow." His response was, “Oh, I can’t wait!” 

I thought, this is a first, a prisoner telling me he can’t wait until I come back to hang him. He asked me if they had not already given me the information regarding his weight when he arrived. “Yes, they did, but I need to see for myself.” “I like that; it tells me you’re efficient, and that you  will  hang me good.”  “Well, Jerry, of all the guys I’ve hung, none have ever complained.”

He then asked how long I’d been doing this and how many I’d hung. I told him about a year and a half, and that he would be my 35th. After chatting with him for another ten minutes, I went to the gallows and adjusted the rope for the 6’2” drop per Jerry’s weight. When I went back two days later to perform the execution, I was surprised by how relaxed he was when I walked into his cell and asked if he was ready. 

He looked me over from top to bottom and grinned, “As ready as I’ll ever be, doll.”  I smiled and told him to turn around and put his hands behind his back. After I tied him, I instructed him to follow me to the execution room. “I’ll follow you to the ends of the earth, doll,” I told him we weren’t going that far. When we exited the cell, the two guards standing in the corridor immediately started walking behind us. Jerry turned to them and said, “Four’s a crowd. Hey, Rachel, do we need these guys?” “I don’t know, Jerry, do I?” “You know you don’t.”

When I told the guards to stay back, one of them asked, “Are you sure?” “Yes, I’m sure. Stay by the door outside the execution room; if I need you, I’ll call you.” The guards looked at each other and shrugged, “OK, whatever you say.”

R: After I told the guards to stay back, Jerry smiled and commented, “I love it.” 

I got close to him. “Now, Jerry, I hope you’re not thinking about doing something stupid.” “Of course not; don’t worry, I won’t give you any trouble”. I put my hand on his shoulder and asked, “Are you okay, Jerry?”  “How can  I not be okay when you’re this close to me?”

PH: It sounds like you took a liking to him; he obviously took a liking to you. 

R: Yes, I did. He killed a bank guard, but at his trial, he swore up and down that it was an accident. Judging from his demeanor, he did not seem like a cold-blooded killer. I think he should have gotten something like twenty to life with a chance for parole. It seems that leniency tends to be shown more towards those who are less deserving.

Sinclair asked me what I thought I was doing with no guards. “Putting another feather in your cap.”  “What does that mean?” “I’ll tell you later.”

Jerry then asked me, “Where’s your beautiful assistant?” I told him she was waiting for us on the scaffold. “Oh, good, I can’t wait to meet her.” “Well, let’s go meet her.” “Lead the way, doll.” 

When the guard stationed by the door to the execution saw me entering with the prisoner and no guards, I heard him say, “What the f...” 

As we entered the execution room, I looked back at Jerry, who was still following me with a smile. When I saw Sinclair walking behind Jerry, I stopped and asked him what he thought he was doing. “Rachel, it is bad enough you sent the guards away, but now you don’t want me around either? What’s got into you? I can’t allow this.” “Yes, you can and you will; the executioner is like the captain of a ship, remember?” He then realized that the one hundred spectators in the audience must have been wondering what was going on and backed off. When we walked past the audience, who had paid $ 100 per seat to witness the execution, I heard some gasping and commenting. “Look, there are no guards.” As Jerry walked past the audience, he smiled and greeted them.  Whenever reporters questioned Sinclair about the executrix, he would make it sound as if some prisoners enjoyed being executed by her. Jerry’s execution would lend credence to the statement.

I knew this execution would make the airwaves and put a big feather in Sinclair’s cap. As soon as we got onto the scaffold, Donna approached Jerry and introduced herself. “Hi Jerry, I’m Donna.” “Hey, Donna, how are ye? Sorry, I ,can’t shake hands.” “No problem, Jerry.”  As she positioned him on trapdoor # 2 and strapped his legs, he asked, “Do you suppose we can all get together for a drink after this?” I couldn't help but feel sorry for him.  I told him that sounded like a plan. Donna was now holding the hood and waiting for my signal. I was about to ask him if he wanted to say anything when I suddenly got an idea. “You know what, Jerry? I think we should all have a drink together.” 

I told Donna to get a bottle of Sinclair’s best brandy and three glasses. No, wait, make it four glasses; tell Sinclair I want him to join us.” As Donna went to get the brandy, Jerry said, “I don’t believe this; you are one cool chick, Rachel.” I told him they were giving us half a million dollars to execute him; the least we could do was have a farewell drink with him. Before long, Donna returned with a bottle of Brandy, four glasses, and Sinclair, who grabbed me by the arm and asked me what I thought I was doing. “I’m about to make you the salesman of the year, Gord”. When I told Donna to untie Jerry, Sinclair asked me if I was nuts. “Gord, I’m not going to pour this Brandy down his throat.” The audience, along with everyone else in the execution room, couldn’t believe their eyes when Donna untied Jerry and handed him a double brandy. She then poured us all a glass. "Bottoms up.” As soon as Jerry gulped it down, she poured him another, plus one for Sinclair and another for herself. I had an execution to perform, so I passed on the second shot. Jerry was getting a little wobbly, so I motioned for Donna to give him one more. She handed him his third and raided hers. “One for the road, Jerry?” “Don’t mind if I do, doll.” After the third glass, I told him it was time. He looked at me and said, “You know, you  two are worth dying for." 

Donna handed the bottle back to Sinclair and thanked him for joining us. After Sinclair descended the steps, Donna put her hand on Jerry’s shoulder. “Jerry.” “Yes, doll?” “Put your hands behind your back for me.” She tied him again and thanked him for being so cooperative. There was now only one thing left to do. I took hold of the noose and smiled at him. Jerry smiled back at me, “It's okay, doll, I know you have to do it.” 

When I asked him if there was anything else he wanted to say, his response was, “Yeah, dammit, I’m in love with you, her too.” I thanked him and gave Donna the signal. As soon as she pulled the hood over his head, I dropped the noose around his neck and tightened it. Jerry was a kidder to the end. When I tightened the noose, he said, “Oh, that feels good.”  As I went to pull the lever, he bid me farewell.  “It was nice meeting you, Rachel.” “It was nice meeting you, too, Jerry.” I pulled the lever, and the trapdoor sprang open in an instant. As Jerry descended the chute, we heard him say, “I would have preferred a blow...” 

PH: The expression for that is “Gallows humor.” Were there any others who were, how should I say, funny?

R: Well, now that you mention it, there was this one guy who suddenly got up from his chair and shot his wife three times through the head.

PH: What on earth for?

R: He was watching a football playoff game.

PH: And? 

R: She changed the channel. When I asked him if there was anything he wanted to say before I noosed him, he asked me if I knew who won the game last night.

Then there was 56-year-old George Kendall. He was the CEO of a multi-billion-dollar company and a tyrant. God forbid an employee took an extra 10 seconds for lunch. If someone was even one minute late coming into work, they got the boot, and it didn’t matter whether they had a flat tire or anything else. One day, when he got home, his wife didn’t have dinner ready because she had met an old friend, and they spent the afternoon catching up. When she got home, he greeted her with a double-barreled shotgun. While he was on death row, he screamed at the guards if his breakfast was even half a minute overdue. On the day of his execution, I got stuck in traffic and arrived at the jail a half hour late. As soon as I changed into my outfit, I ran to his cell as fast as possible.” When the guard opened the door, Kendall stood up angrily and yelled at me,

“YOU'RE LATE!” “I’m sorry, I got stuck in traffic.”

PH: That’s hilarious. So, was there ever a time when the media frenzy subsided?

R: I wish it had; if anything, it worsened.

Some select reporters were very determined to learn our identities. They would report that sources provided them with information to gain publicity, leading them to believe they knew my identity. I recall one particular reporter who sat in his car in the lane behind the prison from morning until night. I saw him scanning the prison grounds with a camera lens the size of a telephone pole. 

The media ran various TV clips featuring us on morning shows and game shows, where participants were dressed like us during executions.

But, of course, not everyone had nice things to say about us. There was an organization called “Abolish the Death Penalty.” They scrutinized our every move. Their leader was a miserable old prune whose favorite name for me was “The Hooded Killer Bitch.” She also spewed some choice words about Donna, but most of her poisoned arrows were directed at me. They occasionally picketed in front of the jail, walking around with placards. When I became Millbrook’s executioner, they set up camp. Although they were annoying, there came a time when I was glad to see them protesting.

PH: You were glad they were there? How so?”

R: There was a young female prisoner, twenty-two-year-old Michelle Baine. She was innocent, yet they made me execute her for none other than political reasons. During the procedure, I procrastinated, hoping for a reprieve, but to no avail. 

Another annoying pest was Sinclair’s secretary, who complained about the bags of fan mail we were getting, which all ended up on her desk. She never liked me; in fact, she even hated me. One day, when I was waiting to talk to Sinclair, she said, “Hey, Miss Executrix, have you ever thought of trying another prison?” I said, “No, Miss Battle Axe, but I wish you would.” 

I guess it’s like anything else. Regardless of your profession, you will inevitably make friends and enemies. I have to say, overall, the media had positive things to say about us. I recall seeing a comedy show on TV where they built a replica of the gallows, and almost every time the show aired, it would feature a woman dressed like me standing next to the rope with a sign near the steps that read “Crooked Politicians this Way.” The networks were cashing in on the executrix frenzy, not to mention ...the tabloids.

PH: Speaking of the networks, was there any feedback from the network about that little partying with Jerry Maynard? You know, Rachel, having a drink with a condemned man before you execute him is one thing, but doing it on the gallows with a hundred million TV viewers tuned in would go beyond the imagination of most people. I’m sure there must have been some response from the media.

R: That is an understatement. The first one to react was Sinclair himself. I’ll never forget it. “Rachel, what the devil got into you? Untying a prisoner and partying with him on the gallows just before you hang him, and on top of that, an execution that's going to be aired? I can’t believe you did that. “Gord, I just put a big feather in your cap; I’m surprised you can’t see that.” 

“What the hell are you talking about? The media is going to have a field day with this.” “You’re damn right they are, and that will be the feather in your cap.” And did they ever- TV networks, newspapers, tabloids, talk shows, radio, the internet, you name it! Sinclair got more bookings than you could shake a stick at. The first week after Jerry’s execution, three other prisons wanted to make a similar deal. This time, it wasn’t about money but rather murderers who would reveal where the bodies of their victims were buried if I hanged them. They all figured, what the hell? If they’re going to hang me anyway, then that was the way they wanted to go. I told Sinclair I wasn’t comfortable with rewarding murderers, but then I thought about the families of the victims who sought closure, so I agreed. I told Sinclair that we would water down the brandy for these guys. That was music to his ears. Sinclair estimated that the show we put on that day netted Millbrook about two million dollars in what he always called “Bookings.” And, he was right about the media having a field day with it. Most of the publicity we got was favorable, while some wasn't.  But like my dad always says, there’s no such thing as bad publicity. 

We were already famous before, but after Jerry Maynard’s execution, we were catapulted into stardom. On one of the talk shows, they had these five women going on and on about how we were showboats, the boozing executrix. One of them said, “Can you imagine being hanged by someone who drinks and parties with the prisoner while he has a rope around his neck? One of the major newspapers had a cartoon of me on the front page, holding the noose in one hand and a bottle of whiskey in the other. The line above read, “Who wants to party? Millbrook received about 60,000 letters that month, some from as far away as Russia. In one day alone, Sinclair closed deals with three other prisons. Now, for the best part, when he made that deal with the network for one million for every execution shown on the midnight channel, that contract was for one year and was due to expire three weeks after we put on that show. Naturally, they wanted to renew the contract. Sinclair said, “Not so fast."  Jerry’s execution was so hyped up that when it aired for the third time, more than 120 million viewers were tuned in across North America, South America, and Europe. Millbrook was swamped with phone calls, emails, and faxes to the point where the Battle Axe demanded that Sinclair hire one more secretary.
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The Con  

PH: I guess with a million bucks on the line every time an execution aired, Sinclair would want to show only the ones that appealed to an audience”.

R: Well, that was what he strived for, although it didn’t always go his way. He fully expected that family members of the condemned man or woman would object to the execution being shown on the air, so he came up with an idea that, for the most part, solved his problem. He would offer the condemned $ 100.000 to be paid to whomever they chose as the beneficiary. In some cases, if they gave him a hard time, he doubled it. That was an incentive for the condemned to see things his way.

Other prisons that wanted to avoid the burden of doing their own executions, which often ran into hundreds of thousands of dollars, gladly paid  Sinclair’s fee of $ 100.000 to take the prisoner off their hands. What pissed him off was some prisoners refusing to cooperate and having their lawyers tie up the process in the courts. Sinclair came up with a solution with the help of one of the employees. 

There was an old, scruffy-looking character who worked at the jail as a floor sweeper, maintenance man, and so on. He looked mean with an eye patch, crooked buck teeth, and a gray beard. Sinclair took a picture of him standing on the gallows, holding the noose. When a prisoner didn’t cooperate, Sinclair told him he would be strung up by the half-blind backup hangman. That worked pretty well in convincing the prisoners to play ball or else. However, there was one guy who called Sinclair’s bluff. “I don’t care; I don’t want to be hung by that feminist bitch.” 

PH: That must have come as a surprise. How was that handled?

R: I hung him. They couldn’t let a janitor with no experience attempt a hanging. 

From the word go, Sinclair saw me as a dollar sign. I may have been the executioner he needed, but I was also his cash cow. Almost immediately after I started performing executions at Millbrook, he came up with the idea of a live audience. The execution room was quite large, almost like a small warehouse. Sinclair put in over a hundred chairs and charged $100.00 per person for admission. I asked him if he also planned to sell popcorn.

In the meantime, we were surprised at the number of women we saw on the streets, in bars, and restaurants dressed in the Executrix outfit. At Halloween, the best-selling costume items were black and maroon latex hoods. 

As for Sinclair, he was basking in the glory of notoriety. Each time he was interviewed, he made it sound like the idea of the executrix was his own.  One day, while we were at the jail preparing for an upcoming execution, he told us CDS had asked him to do an interview. About a week later, Donna called and told me the interview was being aired at 7 p.m. on channel 42. I told her, “Pick up a bottle of wine and come over; we’ll watch it together.” The host was Richard Crane of CDS News. 

RC: Hello, everyone; our guest this evening is Gordon Sinclair. For those who don’t know who Gordon Sinclair is, he is the warden of Millbrook Penitentiary in Mill Bridge, New York. Mr. Sinclair, “How long have you been the warden at Millbrook Pen?” 

GS: “Well, first of all, Richard, thank you for having me on your show. I have been the warden at Millbrook for approximately eight years.” 

RC: Mister Sinclair, ...  “Oh, please, Richard, it’s Gord.” “Thanks, Gord; what I was about to say is, Millbrook is the only penitentiary in the world with a young female executioner, not to mention a very attractive one. When did you come up with the idea of a female hangman, or, I should say, hangwoman, and why?” “We had a bad experience with our previous executioner; he was an alcoholic who showed up for work drunk half the time and barely knew what he was doing. He botched his last execution so badly that the prisoner ended up choking for nearly four minutes before he expired. Even then, having a woman perform the task was not a serious consideration, although the thought had crossed my mind more than once. I actually got the idea after reading an article about an evil woman born in 1750 in Ireland who became known as the Roscommon Hangwoman. The story is undoubtedly more fiction than fact, but it was food for thought.”  

RC: That sounds fascinating. But what made you think that a female executioner was the answer to your problem?” 

GS: “Well, actually, I didn’t; as I said, the thought had crossed my mind, but I never pursued the idea. It wasn’t until one day when this gorgeous young woman came by asking if there were any job openings at Millbrook. I can’t explain it, but there was something about her that I liked. I asked myself, could she be the one?  Well, as they say, the rest is history.”

RC: “Now, Gord, as you know, millions of people saw you on TV telling reporters that you had no idea who she was when she performed her first execution.” 

GS: “Hahaha, I was yanking their chains, Richard, just having fun with them. And by the way, we don’t have one beautiful female executioner; we have two. Having said that, Donna is not an executioner; she’s Rachel's assistant, but we value her as much as we do Rachel.”

RC: “So, who is Rachel, and why is she so adamant about concealing her identity? I assume you know who she is and what she looks like.”

GS: “Yes, Richard, I do. Rachel and Donna are stunning. You would be amazed if you saw them without their disguises. However, the most remarkable thing about Rachel is her ability to execute flawlessly. And they are both loyal. They like working at Millbrook as much as we like having them. Bringing in a beautiful female executioner and an equally beautiful assistant was the best idea I ever had”.  

RC: “I would say no question about it. I seem to recall reading about a time test that was done during one of her executions; what can you tell us about that?”

GS: “We were curious about how quickly a prisoner expired after the trapdoor was sprung, so we placed a timing device beneath the scaffold to record the sound of someone's neck breaking when the rope went taut. It recorded the amazing speed of one-tenth of a second. A similar test was done with the legendary British hangman Albert Pierrepont years earlier. That test showed one-fifth of a  second when the prisoner's neck snapped. It’s no wonder the guards at Millbrook refer to Rachel as the ultimate executioner; one of them once jokingly said, “When she hangs a guy, the son of a bitch is dead before the rope goes taut.”

RC: “I can see why other prisons send their condemned to Millbrook. I understand that you charge $100.000 for every prisoner sent to Millbrook to be executed by the famous hangwoman.”

GS: “That’s right, Richard. I’m not sure if you're aware, but executing someone is very expensive. With lawyers dragging out the process, it can easily end up costing hundreds of thousands of dollars, which is another reason they prefer to send them to us.  

RC: “But what is to stop their lawyers from dragging things out again once they are at Millbrook?” Wouldn’t that put you in the same boat?”

GS: “Yes, but we anticipated that, so our lawyers first had the prisoner and his lawyer sign a waiver stating that there would be no further attempts to disrupt the proceedings. In other words, it’s a done deal once you're at Millbrook, although there was one who almost succeeded.”  

RC: “You once stated, 'Most guys are so mesmerized by Rachel, I think they enjoy being hanged by her. After watching Jerry Maynard’s execution, I would say that was an accurate assessment; he seemed to be in love with her.”

GS: “He was in love with her. He told her so before she noosed him. We get many requests from other prisons for death row inmates to be sent to us. Everyone benefits from it. Other prisons are spared the costly burden of executing prisoners themselves, and, for the man and, possibly even the woman, being executed by an attractive young executioner who provides them with an instant painless death is less traumatizing.”  

RC: “You are receiving one million dollars for every execution on the air; that's amazing. What is also remarkable is how the public has welcomed the show, although calling it a show may be a poor choice of words. Now, Gord, I have something I'd like to ask, and I hope you won’t take it the wrong way. I was a little put off when I heard that you sometimes, how should I say, blackmail prisoners. I’m talking about threatening an inmate that unless he plays ball, he will be strung up by the half-blind backup hangman.”

GS: “Allow me to answer your question this way, Richard.  Most who end up on the gallows are cold-blooded killers who deserve to be there. Their only right is to a quick and merciful death. If they choose to make trouble, then they forfeit that right. One did, which he later regretted.”

RC: “What do you mean by' regretted?”  

GS: “We use a commercial weight scale in the infirmary to weigh prisoners before execution. That scale is not always accurate, so Rachel double-checks their weight using a small scale, which a guard places on the floor of the prisoner’s cell for her to verify. One guy steadfastly refused to be weighed by her and told her to go f... herself. Thus, we went by the reading on the commercial scale given to the backup hangman. As a result, the fool ended up dancing at the end of the rope for more than a minute before choking to death.  

RC: “Why was the prisoner hanged by the backup hangman?”

GS: “Rachel has a flawless record, which none of us wanted to see tarnished; this guy made trouble for himself, and I don’t doubt he regretted it.”

RC: “Have you been approached by other women wanting to be executioners? I assume some have applied, given the publicity Rachel has received.” 

GS: “Yes, we have several but we declined them all. I don’t know if you have heard about the prison on the West Coast that hired that bimbo, I forgot her name. She knew nothing about hanging someone and completely misjudged the drop. When the guy went down, his head went in one direction and the rest of him in another. Soon after, I received an e-mail from them. I heard of similar incidents at other prisons that were equally horrendous.”

RC: “Getting back to the other issue, were there others who the backup hangman hung beside the uncooperative prisoner?” 

GS: “Yes and no. There was this one guy, George Petrie, who said, and I quote, I don’t care, I’ll take my chances, I don’t want to be hung by that feminist bitch. He decided he would give us a hard time. He had a very good lawyer who prevented the execution from being aired. On the day of his execution, the old hangman had a few drinks and wasn’t too steady on his feet. When Petrie saw him wobbling into his cell, he went berserk. He literally got on his knees and begged to be hanged by Rachel. His execution was postponed by three days, during which time his lawyer withdrew the objection about CDS airing the execution. Ultimately, Millbrook got a million dollars, and George Petrie lived another three days.  After that, Rachel, out of the goodness of her heart, hanged the idiot.”  

RC: “Let's talk about Donna; what can you tell us about her? She’s getting nearly as much media coverage as Rachel.”

GS: Donna is dedicated to being Rachel’s assistant, not only on the gallows. Donna also weighs prisoners and sets up the adjustments for the drop. She’s a professional in every sense of the word; CDS insists on her being part of the show. Like Rachel, Donna is opposed to the death penalty and would like to see it abolished.” 

RC: “Well, Gord, I must say, your idea about a female executioner was brilliant. What I find most fascinating is how they are always on the news; the media never stops talking about them.  Millbrook struck it rich when you latched on to those two. Whenever women are interviewed on the street, most fantasize about being the famous hangwoman.  Now, what about yourself? You have been the warden at Millbrook for the past eight years; what was your occupation before that?”  

GS: “I worked for the federal government for six years before starting my own business.”  

RC: “What sort of business were you in?”

GS: “I owned a used car lot. Can you believe that, Richard? I was a used car salesman.”

RC: “I never would have guessed, but then, making deals seems to be one of your traits. I assume you are married?” 

GS: “Yes, Richard, I am. I have been happily married to the same woman for the past thirty-nine years. We have two children. My daughter, Kelly, is twenty-seven, and my son, Derek, is twenty-five. We also have two grandchildren.” 

RC: “I’m sure you must be proud of them. Gord, thank you for being on our show this evening. Hopefully, we will have the opportunity to interview Rachel and Donna someday.” 

GS: “Thank you for having me, Randy.” 

When the show was over, Donna turned to me and said, “His idea? We were His idea? I guess once a used car salesman, always a used car salesman.” The way he described past events was amusing, but we loved it and appreciated what he said about us even more.

PH: Was what he told the commentator about the backup hangman true? Did he actually let a janitor hang someone?

R: No, it wasn’t, but Sinclair wanted everyone to believe the con, and what’s more, he went to some extent to ensure that they would. He made a video of a fake execution that showed a prisoner who didn’t play ball dancing and gurgling at the end of the rope for nearly two minutes. The rope around the prisoner’s neck was not attached to the beam. A second rope was attached to a belt around the actor’s waist and out of view. If a prisoner decided not to cooperate, Sinclair showed him the video.  

PH: I must say that is original. I assume most played ball after they saw the video.

R: Absolutely. As for the old guy wobbling into Petrie’s cell drunk, that was a set-up. Sinclair gave him a few shots of whiskey before he went to Petrie’s cell. Now, had Petrie called Sinclair’s bluff, then I would have carried out the execution. Sinclair mostly liked being in the spotlight we put him in, and he loved how often Millbrook was mentioned on the news. One day, he asked if I would be willing to participate in an autograph session. I asked him, “Have you lost your friggin mind?” “But Rachel, they’ll gladly pay you for it. 

You can probably charge $20.00 per autograph. What do you say to a 60-40 split? 60 for you: “You have lost your friggin mind, goodnight.” 

Sinclair insisted he needed my phone number. I finally agreed to give it to him, but told him if he gave it to anyone else, I would kill him. “No, Rachel, it is safe with me, don’t worry.” “It didn’t take long before I discovered why he wanted it so badly. As it turned out, he was booking more and more executions all the time, and it was not always easy for him to reach me at a moment’s notice. One day I received a call from him that pissed me off. He said, “Rachel, I know it’s short notice, but I need you to do an execution the day after tomorrow. What time?” “8:30 p.m. "You mean a.m. “No, Rachel, you heard right; it’s p.m.”

“Are you kidding me? I made plans for that night.” “Sorry, Rachel, but that’s the deal. Don’t let me down.” I was seeing a new guy at the time. He had made reservations for us at a nice restaurant, and I was looking forward to it. That little weasel, all he could think of was the hundred thousand he was getting for every execution. Like, what’s next - midnight? Anyway, I did the execution without Donna. She also had plans for that evening; her answer was, “No way.”

Then, another problem arose. When I first came on board, he told me there would be no executions in December or January. I was glad because we all went down to Palm Beach in Florida in January, where my family owns a big house by the ocean. It’s been a family tradition for years.  I didn’t get a call from him until the last week of December, telling me that he had scheduled two executions for the second and third weeks of January. He was elated; I was pissed. “Gord, you told me there were never any executions during these months." “Oh, Rachel, please, they’ve already sent us payment; don’t let me down". I didn’t let him down, but my father, who demanded an explanation that I could not give him, was furious.

After that, I informed Sinclair that some changes would be necessary. I agreed to the two for January, but they would have to schedule them after the first week in February next year. He didn’t like that and said he resented being dictated to. “I should remind you, Rachel, that we are not the only ones benefiting from this arrangement. Furthermore, you should also know that several other women have approached us, eager to take over your role.” 

PH: I take it you were not ready for that.

R: No, I wasn’t, but it really pissed me off. I was not about to let this little con artist blackmail me. After the earful I got from my dad about not going to Florida in January with the rest of the family, I didn’t need any more pressure. I looked him in the eye and told him, “Good, you got someone else to take my place? Don’t let me stop you. Maybe you need another disaster, similar to the one you experienced with that drunk; I’m sure that will boost the network’s ratings. Goodbye and good luck.” As I got up and headed for the door, I heard him say, “Rachel, wait, wait.” I turned and looked at him. “What? 

“I didn’t mean it that way. Please sit down; let’s talk this over.”

PH: I guess he came to his senses. Did you ever find out about other women applying?

R: No, but as he said, on the West Coast, there was a woman who convinced the warden of that prison to give her a shot. Given all the publicity Millbrook was getting, I suppose it was to be expected. Anyway, long story short, she thought all she had to do was put a rope around some guy’s neck, pull the lever, and presto! She’s famous.

This goose knew absolutely nothing about hanging someone. She completely miscalculated the drop. The guy weighed two hundred and fifty pounds, and she set the drop for seven feet; it decapitated him. That execution was so gruesome that they never performed another at that prison. The following week, Sinclair got an email from them. By then, I had forty-eight executions under my belt, and I felt that I was damn good at it, I knew I was. I performed each execution with no mishaps. While I tend to take most things lightly and not get upset with petty stuff, when it comes to taking someone’s life, I am stone-cold serious. Except for one, every prisoner I hanged was dead in a split second. The only one that didn’t get a quick exit was a vicious murderer. He was # 135, my second-to-last execution at Millbrook. I made sure this disgusting bastard danced the cha-cha before he gave up the ghost. I have always been against capital punishment, and sometimes sit back and ask myself why I am doing this. 

PH: But you were so good at it; would that not be reason enough?

R: I suppose, but there were times I had doubts, as I did with number 49. David Kersey was forty-eight, about six feet tall, and pure filth. He murdered three young women. One was just nineteen years old. While he was on death row, he was always shooting his mouth off to the other inmates about what he would like to do to me if he ever got the chance. One day, when I walked past his cell, he called me over. It wasn’t the first time he tried to talk to me. I always ignored him, but on that particular day, I asked him what he wanted. “I just want to talk to you. Got a minute?” I told him, “Go ahead, talk." He grinned. “Wanna know what my fantasy is?” I hated that piece of garbage, and to this day, I still don’t know why I talked to him. I don’t want to repeat what he said, but after he was done running off his filthy mouth, I pointed to the sign on the wall and asked him if he could read. “Of course, I can read you, dumb bitch.” “If you can read, you just made a big mistake.” After I walked away, Steve, the guard, asked Kersey if he understood what I had told him. I’ll never forget the day I went to perform his execution. When Steve opened the door to let me in, Kersey looked as white as a bed sheet. Before I could say a word, he muttered a meek apology. When I told him to stand up and turn around, he couldn’t do it fast enough. I thought to myself, “Not so tough now, are you, you murdering son of a bitch.” As I was tying his hands, I asked him, “Did it give you pleasure when you murdered those poor girls?”.
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